#### 95701-1

### PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

### FROM COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I

### OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### NO. 74512-3-I

SANDRA L. FERGUSON, Petitioner

Appellant/Cross-Respondent

٧.

LAW OFFICE OF BRIAN J. WAID, Respondent

Respondent/Cross Appellant

Submitted by: Emily Rains, Esqu.

Attorney for Petitioner

170 S. Lincoln Street

Ste 100

Spokane, WA 99201

(206)778-1330

mail@emilyrains.com

### **

### I. INTRODUCTION

This motion for discretionary review seeks reversal of the Court of Appeals action dismissing Plaintiff-Appellant's appeal on a procedural technicality, without first considering the appeal on the merits. This request for discretionary review asks this Court to reverse the Court of Appeals' decision to deny Plaintiff-Appellant's Motion to Modify the Court Clerk's ruling of September 11, 2017, which dismissed the appeal because the opening brief was not filed by the deadline of September 7, 2017. The final opening brief was filed by September 25, 2017, along with the Motion to Modify, which the Court of Appeals denied. The Court of Appeals decision to give form priority over substance and to prevent a decision on the merits conflicts with prior decisions of the Supreme Court and the Courts of Appeals.

Appellant (hereinafter, "Plaintiff" or "Plaintiff-Appellant") is a client who has filed a civil suit in October 2014, against her former attorney, Brian Waid ("Waid"). The case has survived multiple motions for summary judgment by Waid, but Plaintiff has not yet had her trial on the merits. Currently, Plaintiff's malpractice and Consumer Protection Act ("CPA") claims against the attorney, Waid, are pending in the trial court, while the parties litigate certain issues in the Court of Appeals. Waid has filed a cross-appeal and the Court of Appeals has recently granted his motion for an extension of time to file his opening brief on cross-appeal. Therefore, Waid will not be prejudiced by Plaintiff-Appellant's opening brief being also considered on the merits.

In the Court of Appeals, Plaintiff seeks to have her breach of fiduciary duty claim against Waid—which was dismissed by the trial court as duplicative of her malpractice claim against Waid—reinstated. Plaintiff argues that the trial court erred as a matter of law

<sup>-</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Plaintiff's appeal is from 14-2-29265-1 SEA. However, Plaintiff's remaining claims against Waid were dismissed under CR 41, and re-filed under a new cause number, 15-2-28797-5 SEA.

when it dismissed her breach of fiduciary claim against Waid, based on a finding that the breach of fiduciary duty claim was duplicative of the malpractice claim, because this is not the law of Washington. On the contrary, malpractice and breach of fiduciary duty claims are frequently allowed to be pursued as independent claims under Washington law. Thus, Plaintiff seeks to try the breach of fiduciary duty claim against Waid to the jury after the Court of Appeals has considered the pending appeal and cross-appeal. The breach of fiduciary duty claim, once reinstated, would be tried with her malpractice and CPA claims which remain pending in the trial court pending resolution of the appeal.

The basis for Plaintiff's breach of fiduciary duty claim against Waid is set forth in her opening brief filed on September 25, 2017. Because the brief was late, the Court Clerk dismissed Plaintiff's appeal, refusing to consider the issue on the merits.

Therefore, Plaintiff filed a Motion to Modify the Clerk's order dismissing her appeal. The Motion to Modify

was denied on March 6, 2018. Therefore, Plaintiff is seeking discretionary review by this Court so that the important issues presented on appeal of the dismissal of the breach of fiduciary duty claim will be decided on the merits, rather than on a technicality.

Waid's Breach of Duty of Loyalty, Conflict of Interest, and Breach of RPC 1.8. As set forth in Plaintiff's opening brief, Waid holds himself out to the public as an attorney with a great deal of knowledge and experience in fee disputes, co-counsel relationships, and lien law. Plaintiff, an attorney, retained Waid because of his purported expertise in such matters whereas she had none. Yet, after Waid was retained and entered a limited notice of appearance on behalf of his client (Plaintiff) in the case where she was the priority lienholder under Washington's Attorney-Lien Statute (RCW 60.40) Waid failed to file or otherwise enforce his own client's priority lien for attorneys' fees in the case where the "proceeds" were generated and where her lien had legal effect.

Instead of filing the lien-notice and enforcing his client's priority lien rights which entitled her to have her fee-claim resolved before any other claimants to the proceeds were paid, Waid *opposed* the summary adjudication process available under Washington's attorney-lien statute, charged his client \$30,000 for doing so, then caused \$530,107 to be moved to the court's registry in a new case where he took the priority lien from his client.<sup>2</sup> The new case was a "sham" case filed by Waid for the sole purpose of creating a priority lien for himself under Washington's attorney-lien statute and depriving his client of the uncontested portion of the proceeds that rightfully belonged to her.

#### Waid's Admitted Breach of Client Confidences.

Waid has admitted and it is not disputed, that he breached client-confidentiality by speaking about his clients' case, extensively, to a former client of his, as

<sup>2</sup> Summary adjudication would have been in Plaintiff-Appellant's best interest because it would have t resolved the fee-dispute matter cost-effectively, and all parties (including the plaintiffs who were receiving the settlement proceeds) would have had notice and an opportunity to be heard (which was the goal of Waid's client).

well as to his former boss. Both of these lawyers were third parties who had no legitimate interest in the case. Instead, both attorneys were trying to use their influence over Waid to advance the opposing party's, Stephen Teller's, interest in the fee dispute. In other words, Waid communicated the Plaintiff-Appellant's confidences to two attorney who were seeking to advance the interests of the opposing party. Although Waid admits to conferring with these third parties without his client's consent, he has argued to the trial court that any attorney in his position would have done the same.

Five months after Waid filed the sham case in his client's name and charged and billed her \$78,350.85 for worthless legal services, he disavowed the sham claims in open court without her informed consent, which caused the adverse party to sue his client (not him) for \$102,000 in CR 11 sanctions. The motion for sanctions by the adverse party clouded his client's title to the \$265,000 which was unlawfully deposited

and held in the court registry by Waid during the entire sham case.

A few days before his client's response to the CR 11 sanctions motion was due, Waid abandoned his client on a false pretext, leaving her without representation and to defend herself against the sanctions motion caused by his filing of the sham case. Then, Waid made misrepresentations of fact to the trial court to obtain a post-facto order permitting his withdrawal (which had, in truth, already occurred without leave of the court). Then, Waid filed his own lien-notice, claiming his right to take \$78,350.85 in attorneys' fees from the money in the court registry which had belonged to his client all along (i.e., the \$265,000), but which he had caused to be deposited into the registry of the sham case once it was filed.

Trial Court's Order Setting Waid's Lien Aside.

In the sham case, the trial court judge correctly ordered Waid's lien to be set aside as invalid because the money in the court registry was not "proceeds"

from the sham case, but had been earned long before the sham case was filed, by the two attorneys who were disputing the proper division of the fees.

Court of Appeals Finds Waid's Lien Valid. The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's decision upon Waid's appeal. This was reversed by the Court of Appeals. See Appendix (Published Court of Appeals Decision).

Order Denying Motion to Modify. Plaintiff's appeal to have her breach of fiduciary duty claim reinstated has been dismissed and will not be heard by the Court of Appeals because the brief was filed two weeks late. Therefore, Plaintiff seeks discretionary review of the Court of Appeals' decision denying modification of the Court Clerk's dismissal. Plaintiff's appeal of the trial court's dismissal of her breach of fiduciary duty claim should be decided on the merits in the interest of justice, which would have been consistent with previous holdings by both the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals.

### II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Sandra L. Ferguson and the Ferguson Firm, PLLC ("Ferguson") is the "Appellant" in the Court of Appeals and the "Plaintiff" in the trial court. Ferguson was the Respondent in the Court of Appeals' decision in 2013 which reversed the trial court's order setting Waid's Lien for Attorneys' Fees Aside and upheld the legality of Waid's Lien.

### III. CITATION TO APPELLATE DECISION TO BE REVIEWED

Petitioner requests the Washington Supreme
Court review and reverse the Washington State
Court of Appeals decision in Sandra L. Ferguson
and The Ferguson Firm, PLLC, Appellant v. Law
Office of Brian J. Waid and Brian J. Waid and
Jane Doe Waid and the Marital Community
Thereof, Respondents, 74512-3-I Order Denying
Extension of Time and Denying Motion to Modify
(March 6, 2018), herein the "Order". A copy of
said Order is included in the **Appendix**.

### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Decision of the Court of Appeals in Conflict with Decision of the Supreme Court.
- B. Decision of the Court of Appeals in Conflict with Another Decision of the Court of Appeals.
- C. Significant Question of Law Under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States is Involved;
- D. Petition Involves an Issue of Substantial Public Interest that Should Be Determined by the Supreme Court.

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Plaintiff-Appellant Seeks Discretionary Review of the Court of Appeals' Decision to Dismiss Her Appeal and Not Consider the Merits Because the Opening Brief was Filed Two Weeks Late.

This is a request for discretionary review of the Court of Appeals' decision to deny Plaintiff-Appellant's

Motion to Modify the Court Clerk's Ruling which dismissed her appeal on September 11, 2017 because the opening brief was not filed by the deadline of September 7, 2017. Plaintiff-Appellant's Brief was filed 2 weeks late, on September 25, 2017, along with the Motion to Modify the Court Clerk's notation ruling of September 11, 2017, at issue here. The Court of Appeals denied the Motion to Modify the Court Clerk's ruling and therefore, refuses to consider the opening brief or to decide Plaintiff-Appellant's appeal of the trial court's decision to dismiss her breach of fiduciary duty claim on the legal merits. The order denying Plaintiff-Appellant's Motion to Modify and the late-filed opening brief are included as part of the **Appendix**.

## B. Appellants Acted in Good Faith to Meet the Court's Deadline, But Failed.

On August 8, 2017, Appellants received notice from the Court Clerk of the Court of Appeals that the due date for Appellants' opening brief would be September 7, 2011. and "no further extensions of time will be permitted." Plaintiff-Appellant failed to file

the opening brief by the September 7, 2011 deadline set forth in the notice of August 8, 2011. The deadline set by the Court of Appeals in advance was taken very seriously. As of the deadline set by the Court of Appeals, the brief was well underway, and the undersigned counsel (a full-time college professor) was working very diligently to complete and file the opening brief. However, the opening brief was still in progress on September 7, 2011, and was not yet suitable for filing. Prior to the deadline set forth by the Court Clerk, the undersigned attorney consulted with her client and a seasoned appellate counsel who advised her to complete the opening brief, then file a motion for an extension of time with the completed brief instead of filing a motion for extension of timr by itself.

Four days later, on September 11, 2017, the Court Clerk entered an order dismissing Plaintiff's appeal, as the undersigned counsel was still preparing the opening brief. On September 25, 2017, the final opening brief was filed, along with the Motion to

Extend the Deadline and Modify the Court Clerk's ruling dismissing the appeal. On March 6, 2018, the Court of Appeals denied the Motion to Extend the Deadline and Modify the Court Clerk's Dismissal of the Appeal. This Motion for Discretionary Review followed.

#### VI. ARGUMENT

Modern rules of procedure are intended to allow courts to reach merits, as opposed to disposition in technical niceties. *Fox v. Sackman*, 22 Wash. App. 707, 591 P.2d 855 (Div. 3 1979). Plaintiff-Appellant bases this motion for discretionary review on the importance of the underlying issues to the public and on the weight of authority which provides that cases should be decided on the merits, rather than technicalities.

The Court has not generally expressed reasons for granting discretionary review. Typically, the opinion merely has recited that discretionary review was granted. See, e.g., *Bitzan v. Parisi*, 88 Wash. 2d

116, 558 P.2d 775 (1977). Nor do the cases present any strong pattern that would fit the rule provisions. For example, Bitzan v. Parisi, above, is merely a case considering the sufficiency of the evidence supporting some challenged instructions.

Likewise, no reasons were given in *Elliott v.*Peterson, 92 Wash.2d 906, 577 P.2d 1282 (1979)

(effect on statute of limitations of an erroneous denial of voluntary dismissal); Layman v. Ledgett, 89 Wash.

2d 906, 577 P.2d 970 (1978) (issue of rights to timber); Childers v. Childers, 89 Wash. 2d 592, 575

P.2d 201 (1978) (child support education after age of majority); Goodell v. ITT-Federal Support Services, Inc. 89 Wash.2d 488, 573 P.2d 1292 (1978) (tort liability); State v. Agee, 89 Wash. 2d 416, 573 P.2d 355 (1977) (effect of dismissal of agent on defense persona to agent on liability of principal).

The Supreme Court has granted a petition for review when, although affirming decisions below, it disagreed with the reasoning below. *State v.* 

Johnson, 96 Wash. 2d 926, 639 P.2d 1332 (1982) (overruled on other grounds by, State v. Calle, 125 Wash. 2d 769, 888 P.2d 155 (1995)).

Though review by Supreme Court is normally limited to issues raised in petition for review and answer, the Court has authority to perform all acts necessary or appropriate to fair and orderly review and can waive Rules of Appellate Procedure when necessary to serve the ends of justice. Thus, court could address substantive issue not raised by parties in order to curtail further appeals. *Kruse v. Hemp*, 121 Wash.2d 715, 853 P.2d 1373 (1993)(holding modified on other grounds by *Berg v. Ting*, 125 Wash.2d 544, 886 P.2d 564 (1994)).

The appellate court's discretion to consider cases and issues on their merits, despite one or more technical flaws in an appellant's compliance with the Rules of Appellate Procedure, should normally be exercised unless there are compelling reasons not to do so. Wright v. Colville Tribal Enterprise Corp., 127

Wash. App. 644, 111 P.3d 1244, 95 Fair Empl. Prac. Cas. (BNA) 1747 (Div. 1 2005), rev'd on other grounds, 159 Wash.2d 108, 147 P.3d 1275 (2006).

In a case where the nature of an appeal is clear, and the relevant issues are argued in the body of the brief and citations are supplied so that the appellate court is not greatly inconvenienced and the respondent is not prejudiced, there is no compelling reason for the appellate court not to exercise its discretion to consider the merits of the case or issue, despite technical failures in an appellants compliance with the Rules of Appellate Procedure. *Id.* 

Technical violations of appellate rules will not ordinarily bar appellate review where justice is to be served by such review. *Wolf v. Boeing Co.*, 61 Wash. App. 316, 810 P.2d 943 (Div. 1 1991) (abrogated on other grounds by, *Hill v. Jawanda Transport Ltd.*, 96 Wash. App. 537, 983 P.2d 666 (Div. 1 1999)). See also, *Dana v. Piper*, 173 Wash. App. 761, 295 P.3d 305 (Div. 2 2013), *review denied*, 178 Wash.2d 1006,

308 P.3d 642 (2013)<sup>3</sup>, and *Eller v. East Sprague Motors & RVs, Inc.*, 159 Wash. App. 180, 2444 P.3d

447 (Div. 3 2010).<sup>4</sup>

In Clark County v. Western Washington

Growth Management Hearings Review Board, --P.3d---, 2013 WL 1163889, Slip opinion, p. 6
(Stephens, J., concurring) (March 21, 2013) this
Court, citing RAP 1.2(a), stated: "We ...liberally
construe the rules on determining a party's
compliance."

This Motion to Modify the Court's Notation

Ruling Dismissing the Appeal Should be Granted to

Allow for Consideration and Decision on the Merits.

Appellant does not shirk responsibility, or offer

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Wife of client who filed legal malpractice suit against law firm was party to client's notice of discretionary review of trial court's pretrial discovery orders, though wife was not named as a petitioner in the initial notice of review due to clerical error, as it was clear from the record that client always intended to include wife in the petition and thus, a waiver of deadline for filing notice of discretionary review to serve ends of justice was justified.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Court of Appeals would overlook appellant's technical failure to comply with rule requiring his opening brief to include assignments of error, as appellant appealed only one order of the trial court and the nature of his appeal was clear from his identification of issues and his argument, such that his technical noncompliance with rule was not an impediment to a decision on the merits.

excuses for the late filing. There simply was not sufficient time to prepare the brief and file it by the deadline date of September 7, 2011. That being said, Appellants worked very diligently and in good faith to meet the deadline once they set to work. Appellants were by no means cavalier about the Clerk's notice regarding the deadline. Although Appellants take full responsibility for the failure to meet the deadline, there are circumstances that show that the failure was not due to a lack of good faith or diligence. First, there is an extensive procedural history and factual record which is relevant to this appeal. Second, counsel for appellants is an attorney who teaches business and tax law and accounting in Salt Lake City, Utah; she is not by background, a legal malpractice attorney. Third, after an extensive search, Ms. Ferguson could not find a malpractice lawyer to represent her because none of the malpractice attorneys in town were willing to take a case against a colleague (Mr. Waid is also a malpractice attorney), regardless of the merits. The

foregoing information is presented to the Court, not because it excusess Appellants' failure to file the brief on time, but to explain that this brief is not late due to a lack of due diligence or good faith by Appellants' or counsel for Appellants. Appellants approached the deadline they were given by the Clerk with the earnest intention to meet it.

As for the extensive record involved with this appeal, this created a lot of work. Ferguson is only appealing two orders of the trial court: (1) the dismissal of the breach of fiduciary duty claim at summary judgment; (2) the order of non-suit dismissal under CR 41. But, this case that is on appeal (Ferguson v. Waid) involves the facts and procedural history of two other cases, and one prior appellate proceeding before the Court of Appeals Division I, which occurred in 2013. For example, this appeal arises from a "malpractice" case brought by Ferguson against Waid in October 2014. Ms. Ferguson's claims against Mr. Waid arose from Mr. Waid's alleged acts, errors and omissions in two separate,

but related cases in which he represented Ms. Ferguson and her law firm (i.e., Ferguson v. Teller, filed by Waid in 2011 and Endres v. Safeway, filed by Ferguson in 2010). Furthermore, in 2013, Ferguson v. Teller was on appeal before this Court. Ms. Ferguson was an appellant, but so was Ms. Ferguson's attorney, Brian Waid, who was seeking reversal of the trial court's order vacating his lien for attorneys' fees he claimed he earned for his role in the Endres v. Safeway and Ferguson v. Teller cases. Once the issues on appeal were resolved by this Court, Ms. Ferguson filed Ferguson v. Waid in the trial court below, and that case was vigorously litigated for one year (October 14, 2014 — November 30, 2015), before it was dismissed by the trial court without prejudice on December 1, 2015.

### VII. Important Legal Issues Are Presented by this Appeal and Should Be Decided on the Merits.

One of the most important legal questions presented by this appeal is: When does a lien for attorneys' fees "authorized by law" (i.e., by common

law, statute, or contract) run afoul of RPCs 1.8(a) or 1.8(i)?

RPC 1.8(a) provides (inter alia) that "a lawyer shall not knowingly acquire an ownership, possessory, security, or other pecuniary interest adverse to a client [except under certain enumerated circumstances]."

RPC 1.8(i) provides (inter alia) that a "lawyer shall not acquire a proprietary interest in the cause of action or subject matter of the litigation the lawyer is conducting for a client except that the lawyer may...acquire a lien authorized by law to secure the lawyer's fee or expenses; and contract with a client for a reasonable contingent fee in a civil case."

In 2011, Brian Waid agreed to represent

Ferguson in the Endres case for the limited purpose of the existing fee dispute with her former co-counsel,

Teller. But, after he appeared in the Endres case, he failed to file his client's lien for attorneys' fees in the Endres case, or to enforce his client's "super priority"

lien. His own client's lien had priority status, and he could have and should have foreclosed on the settlement funds from the Endres case, which were in the hands of the adverse party from April 28, 2011 to August 5, 2011. Instead, Mr. Waid filed a new, separate lawsuit against Teller, and as a result, a lien arose in his name or interest, thus, then he deposited the contingent-fee from the Endres case into the court registry of the Ferguson v. Teller case, and thereby, acquired a security or pecuniary interest in the subject matter of the litigation which was adverse to his own client, Ferguson v. Teller. See Ferguson v. Teller v. Waid, 178 Wash. App. 622, 631-32, 316 P.3d 509 (2013). Even when there was no question about Ms. Ferguson's right to possession and control over \$265,000 in the court registry because it belonged to her, Waid took no action to have Ms. Ferguson's funds disbursed to her.

In 2013, the Court of Appeals Division I held Waid's lien valid as a matter of law, based on the circumscribed record which was before the Court at

that time (during the appeal from the Ferguson v.

Teller case). Waid had the opportunity to adjudicate
his claim to fees after remand to the trial court, but he
did not seek to do so. Therefore, the \$290,000 that
remained in the court registry was disbursed to Teller.

Now, due to this appeal, the Court has a more extensive or complete record before it, and is called upon to decide the legal question (based on the undisputed record) whether Waid's lien "authorized by law", violated the Rules of Professional Conduct. This is an important legal question for the Court to resolve, not only for the benefit of the parties in interest on this appeal, but for Washington lawyers who require clear guidance from the appellate courts interpreting RPC 1.8 (a) and 1.8(i).

Pursuant to the Rules of Appellate Procedure, the Court Should Accept and Consider Appellant's Brief on the Merits.

RAP 18.8(a) authorizes the relief sought. The rule provides in relevant part, as follows:

"Generally. The appellate court may, on its own initiative or on motion of a party, waive or alter the provisions of any of these rules and enlarge or shorten the time within which an act must be done in a particular case in order to serve the ends of justice, subject to the restrictions in sections (b) and (c)."

### (2) RAP 1.2(a) provides:

"These rules will be liberally interpreted to promote justice and facilitate the decision of cases on the merits. Cases and issues will not be determined on the basis of compliance or noncompliance with these rules except in compelling circumstances where justice demands, subject to the restrictions in rule 18.8(b)."

The appellate court will construe the Rules of Appellate Procedure liberally to promote justice and facilitate the decision of cases on the merits. State v. Turner, 156 Wash. App. 707, 235 P.3d 806 (Div. 1 2010).

In a case where the nature of the appeal is clear and the relevant issues are argued in the body of the brief and citations are supplied so that the court is not really inconvenienced and the respondent is not prejudiced, there is no compelling reason for the appellate court not to exercise its discretion to consider the merits of the case or the issue. Id.

### VIII. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should grant discretionary review in this case.