FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/7/2018 1:50 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 95701-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SANDRA L. FERGUSON and THE FERGUSON FIRM, PLLC, Petitioner, Appellants/Cross-Respondents

v.

LAW OFFICE OF BRIAN J. WAID; BRIAN J. WAID and JANE DOE WAID, and their marital community, Respondents/Cross-Appellants.

RESPONDENTS/CROSS-APPELLANTS' ANSWER OBJECTING TO APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Kathleen A. Nelson, WSBA#22826 Sarah D. Macklin, WSBA #49624 LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP 1111 3rd Ave., Suite 2700 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 436-2020 Attorneys for Respondents/Cross-Appellants

I. <u>INTRODUCTION AND RELIEF REQUESTED</u>

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

IV. ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF ANSWER

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the limited circumstances under which this Court will accept discretionary review of a decision terminating review by the Court of Appeals. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only if: (1) The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) the decision is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court RAP 13(b)(1) – (4).

The Court of Appeals' denial of modification does not conflict with prior Court of Appeals or Supreme Court decisions. Nor does it raise a significant constitutional question of law or involve an issue of substantial public interest. Moreover, Ferguson's petition scarcely discusses these standards for accepting review under RAP 13.4, and instead merely claims that the Court of Appeals erred because Ferguson's appeal cannot now be decided on its merits. Ferguson requests leniency from this Court - yet again - in order to hear the merits of her case. However, Ferguson was already given multiple prior warnings to meet deadlines or face immediate dismissal of the appeal. Ferguson repeatedly failed to file on time, and the Court of Appeals correctly denied her motion to modify, effectively terminating her appeal. Therefore, this court should deny Ferguson's petition for discretionary review.

A. The Court Should Deny Ferguson's Petition Because
There is No Conflict of Law between the Court of
Appeals Decision and Past Washington Supreme Court
and Appellate Decisions.

This court will only grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2) if Ferguson demonstrates that there is a conflict of law between the Court of Appeals decision and past Washington Supreme Court or Appellate decisions. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). Here, Ferguson fails to identify any

conflict of law. Instead, she merely lists cases⁸ – regardless of the field of law - in which the court chose to exercise discretion and hear a case on the merits. For example, Ferguson cites *State v. Johnson*, 96 Wash. 2d 926 (1982) (whether concurrent sentences violated double jeopardy) simply because this Court disagreed with the Court of Appeals, even though the nature of the law in *Johnson* (criminal) is completely unrelated to this matter.

Ferguson's argument does not demonstrate any conflict of law; rather, she advocates for continued leniency from this Court, which is not a basis for discretionary review under RAP 13.4. The Court of Appeals denied Ferguson's motions following her failure to file her brief on time, even though the court repeatedly warned that tardiness would result in dismissal of her appeal, and even after the court granted her multiple extensions to file. These circumstances do not apply to the requirements of RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), and neither does the authority that Ferguson provided. The Court of Appeals order does not conflict with its own law or decision from this Court. Ferguson's petition for review should be denied.

- 8

⁸ Ferguson cites *State v. Calle,* 125 Wash. 2d 769 (1995) (whether multiple convictions for a single act of intercourse violated double jeopardy protections), even though the Court of Appeals decision in this case is unrelated in law to *Calle.* Further, the other cases Ferguson lists are taken directly from the RAP 13.4 Washington Practice Series without any additional argument.

B. This Court Should Deny Ferguson's Petition Because No Question of Law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is Involved.

This court will only grant discretionary review of a Court of Appeals decision under RAP 13.4(b)(3) if it involves a significant Washington or United States constitutional question. RAP 13.4(b)(3). Clearly, no constitutional question is involved.

The Court of Appeals properly denied Ferguson's motions because of repeated tardiness and blatant disregard of court orders, a decision that did not infringe on Ferguson's rights or implicate any constitutional questions. While Ferguson does not identify any specific constitutional issues, the arguments imply that the Court of Appeals decision violated her opportunity to be heard. Ferguson contends, "...there is no compelling reason for the appellate court not to exercise its discretion to consider the merits of the case or the issue". Pet. 25. Here, the Court of Appeals did not violate Ferguson's right to be heard.

This Court reserves discretionary review due to violations of due process for circumstances where the petitioner has not received notice of or the opportunity to be heard. For example, in *State v. Pence*, a 17 year-old defendant was not offered notice of and an opportunity to be heard by the juvenile court, and was required to appear in Lincoln County Superior Court as an adult, once turning 18. *State v. Pence*, 172 Wn. App. 1001

(2012). Following appeal, the Washington State Supreme Court Commissioner granted discretionary review on the grounds that due process may have been violated. *Id.* at 1001. This case is unlike *State v*. Pence because Ferguson received plenty of notice and opportunity to present her appeal. On December 30, 2015, Ferguson submitted her original notice of appeal. In the two and a half years following, the court has given Ferguson several extensions and notifications regarding her brief, yet she still fails to comply. Ferguson contends that she could not comply, because of the "extensive procedural history and factual record..." involving this matter, because of her inability to find a malpractice attorney, and because she did not realize the amount of work necessary to write a brief. Pet. 18-19. Ferguson has had plenty of time to file her brief, and was consistently reminded of that fact. Therefore, the circumstances of this case do not apply to RAP 13.4(b)(3), and Ferguson's petition for review should be denied.

C. This Court Should Deny Ferguson's Petition Because the Petition Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

This court will only grant discretionary review of a Court of Appeals decision under RAP 13.4(b)(4) if the petition for review involves an issue of substantial public interest.

An issue is of substantial interest to the public when evidence

indicates a high likelihood that it would affect a substantial portion of the public beyond the parties to the proceeding. *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574 (2005). For example, in *State v. Watson*, the Supreme Court granted discretionary review of a Court of Appeals decision under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the decision had the potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County after November 26, 2001, where a drug offender sentencing alternative was at issue. *Watson*, at 577. The *Watson* Court of Appeals decision changed the way in which sentences were offered for drug offenders. That magnitude of significance is not present in the Court of Appeals decision for this case.

Ferguson asserts that there is a public interest in determining when a lien for attorneys fees "authorized by law" violates the Rules of Professional Conduct that would apply to "Washington lawyers who require clear guidance from the appellate courts interpreting RPC 1.8(a) and 1.8(i)". Pet. 20 - 23. Ferguson argues there is ambiguity related to liens for attorney's fees within the RPCs, but fails to identify how a review of this issue by the Supreme Court would clarify. Unlike in *Watson*, where the decision in question objectively altered sentencing for specific types of offenders which necessitated review; Ferguson asks this Court to merely assume that a review of this issue would bring resolution. Further, even if Ferguson's argument had merit, that is not why Ferguson's appeal was

dismissed. Rather, it was dismissed due to her procedural failures—not the merits of any argument. The circumstances surrounding the dismissal of Ferguson's appeal do not reach the level of a "substantial public interest" and, therefore, this court should deny Ferguson's petition for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

V. CONCLUSION

The Court simply did not err when it denied Ferguson's motion to modify, effectively terminating her appeal. The Court provided Ferguson with multiple opportunities to submit her brief, yet she failed to comply, and the Court of Appeals was correct to terminate her appeal. The Supreme Court will only grant discretionary review of the Court of Appeals decision to terminate if one of the four factors provided in RAP 13.4(b) is satisfied. Ferguson's petition for review scarcely mentions these factors and instead rehashes prior arguments that go directly to the merits of this case.

Ferguson's 'explanation' for the missed deadline and untimely brief is nothing more than an inexcusable and self-serving statement that she was simply unable to meet her deadline. At no time in the 30 days following the August 8, 2017 notation ruling did Ferguson indicate to Waid or the Court of Appeals that she was working diligently on her brief but was not going to be able to meet the deadline. Further, in the 19 days

between the deadline and Ferguson's motions and apparent filing of her brief, she did not file anything with the Court of Appeals or the alert Waid that she still intended to file her brief. There is only one reason for that: she knew that if she requested yet more time to file her brief, she would be denied. Ferguson's pattern of callous disregard for deadlines must stop. The Court of Appeals correctly decided that Ferguson was at a dead end. Her excuses and attempted justification to prolong review of her appeal should not be considered. This Court should deny Ferguson's petition for discretionary review.